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On Nov. 29, 2011, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission approved a $336,367.86 settlement between FERC's Office of Enforcement and Holyoke Gas and Electric Department, resolving allegations that Holyoke violated FERC's Prohibition of Electric Energy Market Manipulation, 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2.

FERC-OE concluded that Holyoke's failure during 2008 and 2009 to report to ISO New England Inc. three planned outages of two generating units serving as ISO-NE capacity resources constituted energy market manipulation because Holyoke continued to offer the units' generation for dispatch by ISO-NE while the units were out of service.

With respect to FERC enforcement policy, the order is noteworthy for several key reasons, including:
· The settlement reflects the agency's discretion to decline issuing civil penalties, despite a finding of fraud and recognition that Holyoke's conduct could "have compromised the reliability of the ISO-NE electric grid."

· Owing perhaps to jurisdictional constraints under the Federal Power Act, FERC-OE analyzed Holyoke's conduct under the anti-manipulation rule, rather than under the applicable provisions of ISO-NE's tariff or the commission's "accurate information" market behavior rule.

· FERC-OE noted that Holyoke fully cooperated with staff and submitted a "detailed report of its actions with respect to the three planned outages," two of which were not previously disclosed.

· The settlement appears to be consistent with the facts and allegations contained in FERC-OE's Staff Notice of Alleged Violations, issued previously.


Under the terms of ISO-NE's tariff in effect during 2008 and 2009, ISO-NE paid Holyoke, a municipally owned utility, for capacity for two generation units, Cabot Unit 6, 9.6 MW (megawatts), and Cabot Unit 8, 9.7 MW.

ISO-NE's tariff required Holyoke to notify ISO-NE of any outages of the Cabot Units and to schedule any planned outages of those units required for nonemergency maintenance, inspection or repair.

Holyoke admitted that it reported the two generation units to ISO-NE as "available" when it knew that it could not offer the generation if ISO-NE dispatched them because they were out of service during a planned outage.

However, Holyoke did not admit that its conduct violated 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2.

FERC-OE staff conducted an investigation into Holyoke's actions and concluded that Holyoke's failure to report to ISO-NE and schedule in advance its three planned outages while reporting its units as available for dispatch violated the commission's anti-manipulation rule at 18 C.F.R. § 1c.2, which also prohibits fraudulent conduct.

Also, pursuant to recent changes to FERC's enforcement policy, FERC-OE staff issued a notice of alleged violation in this matter on Aug. 10, 2011. In this case, at least, the allegations and conduct described in the settlement appear consistent with the staff's earlier notice.

However, given the dynamic nature of settlement negotiations and the process for obtaining FERC approvals of settlements, this might not necessarily be the case in all instances.

The settlement agreement requires Holyoke to disgorge $336,367.86 in unjust profits plus interest. Also, Holyoke must file a compliance monitoring report covering the period June 1, 2009, through the effective date of the settlement agreement and must make two additional semi-annual compliance reports.

The compliance reports must disclose all violations of ISO-NE's tariff and provide a detailed update of all compliance measures and training undertaken by Holyoke. FERC-OE reserved the right at its sole discretion to require additional semi-annual reports for one additional year.

Notably, it appears that FERC exercised its discretion to decline issuing civil penalties, even though the case involved allegations of fraud, as well as a recognized threat to electric grid reliability.
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